

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/euro



**Review** article

Long-term health and neurodevelopment in children after antenatal exposure to low-dose aspirin for the prevention of preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials

Anadeijda J.E.M.C. Landman<sup>a,1,\*</sup>, Emilie V.J. van Limburg Stirum<sup>b,1</sup>, Marjon A. de Boer<sup>a</sup>, Janneke van 't Hooft<sup>b</sup>, Johannes C.F. Ket<sup>c</sup>, Aleid G. Leemhuis<sup>d</sup>, Martijn J.J. Finken<sup>e</sup>, Martijn A. Oudijk<sup>b</sup>, Rebecca C. Painter<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Amsterdam UMC, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Amsterdam Reproduction & Development Research Institute, de Boelelaan 1117, 1007 MB Amsterdam, Netherlands

<sup>b</sup> Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Amsterdam Reproduction & Development Research Institute, Meibergdreef 9, 1105 AZ Amsterdam, Netherlands

<sup>c</sup> Medical Library, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, De Boelelaan 1117, 1007 MB Amsterdam, Netherlands

<sup>d</sup> Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, Emma Children's Hospital, Department of Neonatology and Pediatrics, Meibergdreef 9, 1105 AZ Amsterdam, Netherlands

<sup>e</sup> Amsterdam UMC, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, De Boelelaan 1117, 1081 HV Amsterdam, Netherlands

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 26 August 2021 Revised 1 November 2021 Accepted 5 November 2021

Keywords: Acetylsalicylic acid Antenatal exposure Delayed effects Follow-up Long-term health

# ABSTRACT

*Objective:* To evaluate the long-term effects of antenatal aspirin exposure on child health and neurode-velopmental outcome beyond the perinatal period.

*Study design:* PubMed, Embase.com, the Cochrane Library and Web of Science were systematically searched from inception through 5 November 2020. We performed a cited-reference search and ClinicalTrials.gov was searched on 20 October 2020 to identify trial results that were not reported elsewhere. We included randomized controlled trials reporting on health-related outcomes in children (aged > 28 days) exposed to aspirin versus placebo or no treatment during pregnancy. Studies with any dose or duration of aspirin use were included. We excluded studies evaluating other antiplatelet agents or non-steroidal inflammatory drugs. Two authors independently performed study selection, data extraction and quality assessment. Quality assessment was performed using the Cochrane RoB2 tool for the original randomized controlled trials and the QUIPS for the follow-up studies. Results are presented as relative risks (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (95%CI).

*Results:* The search yielded 6,907 unique records. Two studies were included, containing 4,168 children at age 12 months and 5,153 children at 18 months. Children were exposed to aspirin 50–60 mg versus placebo or no treatment. At 12 months, post-neonatal mortality was lower after allocation to aspirin (0.2% versus 0.5%; RR 0.28, 95%CI 0.08–0.99) in a single study. At 18 months, fewer children were found to have (gross and fine) motor problems (RR 0.49, 95%CI 0.26–0.91) after antenatal aspirin exposure in one study. No differences were found in mortality rate; the proportion of children with a short stature or low weight; or respiratory, hearing or visual problems at 18 months. Both included studies had a high risk of bias.

*Conclusion:* The two included studies showed evidence of potential benefit of antenatal low-dose aspirin on mortality and neurodevelopment up to the age of 18 months. Our findings support the current application of low-dose aspirin in pregnant women at risk for preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction. However, further follow-up research of children who were exposed to low-dose aspirin during pregnancy is of utmost importance to exclude potential long-term harm.

© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

\* Corresponding author at: Amsterdam UMC, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Amsterdam Reproduction & Development Research Institute, de Boelelaan 1117, 1007 MB Amsterdam, Netherlands.

<sup>1</sup> Shared first authorship, both authors contributed equally to this manuscript.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejogrb.2021.11.010

2215-1532/© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V.

This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

E-mail address: a.landman@amsterdamumc.nl (A.J.E.M.C. Landman).

#### Contents

Introduction.	214
Material and methods	214
Protocol and registration	214
Information sources and search strategy	214
Outcome measures	215
Eligibility and study selection	215
Data extraction	215
Assessment of risk of bias	215
Data synthesis and analysis	215
Results	215
Study selection	215
Study characteristics of original studies	215
Study characteristics of follow-up studies	215
Risk of bias of included studies	216
Data synthesis	216
Post-neonatal mortality	216
Child neurodevelopment	216
Anthropometrics	218
Respiratory problems	218
Healthcare consumption	218
Discussion	218
Conclusion	219
Funding	219
Details of Ethics Approval	219
Paper presentation information	219
Disclaimer	219
Data availability	219
Registration	219
Contribution to Authorship	219
Declaration of Competing Interest	220
Acknowledgements	220
Appendix A. Supplementary data	220
References	220

#### Introduction

Prophylactic treatment with low-dose aspirin starting < 16 weeks of gestation reduces the risks of preeclampsia, small-for-gestational-age infants and pretern birth [1]. International guidelines recommend that pregnant women at increased risk of preeclampsia take low-dose aspirin throughout pregnancy [2–4]. A substantial and increasing proportion of fetuses is exposed to low-dose aspirin, raising the question of long-term effects on child health.

Aspirin inhibits platelet aggregation and has anti-inflammatory properties through the inhibition of cyclo-oxygenase (COX) [5,6]. Aspirin passes the uteroplacental barrier and enters the fetal circulation even at low doses [7–9]. No differences in intracranial hemorrhage or other neonatal harms have been found for doses up to 150 mg in a systematic review from the US Preventive Services Task Force [10]. However, when considering the pharmacodynamics of aspirin, permanent effects on cell and tissue development and, consequently, long-term health and neurodevelopment can be anticipated. A previous study demonstrated that the absence of adverse effects on the short term does not guarantee absence of adverse effect in the long-term [11].

Antenatal exposure to low-dose aspirin may also be beneficial in the long term. Preeclampsia is associated with adverse neonatal outcomes, in particular preterm birth and small-for-gestationalage infants. These conditions have also been associated with long-term morbidities in children [12–17]. Prevention of these conditions by low-dose aspirin may translate into improved outcomes for children later in life by improving short-term outcome, as well as by diminishing the long-term sequelae of these complications on long-term health.

Long-term follow-up of children exposed to an intervention during pregnancy is important to determine the persistence of short-term neonatal benefits and long-term safety [18]. There is no overview of the evidence on long-term effects of antenatal exposure to aspirin on the health of children based on randomized controlled trials (RCTs). Therefore, our objective was to systematically review the effects of antenatal aspirin exposure on children's outcomes beyond the direct perinatal period from RCTs.

# Material and methods

### Protocol and registration

The review was registered in the Prospero database (ID: CRD42020162088). No changes have been made to the registered details during the conduct of this systematic review. We followed Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions and reported according to the PRISMA statement [19,20]. The study received funding from the Amsterdam Reproduction & Development research institute, which had no role in the establishment of the study.

### Information sources and search strategy

A systematic search was performed from inception up to 5 November 2020 in PubMed, Embase.com, Wiley/Cochrane Library and Clarivate Analytics/Web of Science Core Collection by a medical information specialist (JCFK) in collaboration with one of the first authors (AL). The search included keywords and free-text terms for [1] 'pregnancy' or [2] 'children' combined with [3] 'acetylsalicylic acid'. A search filter was applied to identify RCTs and systematic reviews. No language or publication date restrictions were applied. The complete search strategies can be found in the Supplementary information (Appendix A). We performed a cited-reference search and ClinicalTrials.gov was searched on 20 Oct 2020 to identify trial results that were not reported elsewhere.

# Outcome measures

The outcomes of this systematic review were child healthrelated or neurodevelopmental outcomes beyond the perinatal period (aged > 28 days) following aspirin exposure during pregnancy versus placebo or no treatment. As, at present, a specific core outcome set for follow-up studies is not available, we defined the following principal domains of health-related outcomes: survival, general health, cardiovascular health, development, behavior and mental health.

#### Eligibility and study selection

We included studies with any dose or duration of aspirin use, and irrespective of the indication for its use. Studies evaluating other antiplatelet agents or non-steroidal inflammatory drugs were excluded. Any measure of these outcomes was eligible for inclusion. Unpublished as well as published data in any language were eligible for inclusion. Two authors (AL and EvLS) independently screened titles and abstracts of all potential articles. In case of disagreement regarding eligibility between authors, the full article text was screened. The same authors independently screened the full text of the remaining articles to determine the final selection using the predefined inclusion criteria. Disagreements on eligibility were resolved by discussion or consulting a third author (RP).

# Data extraction

Two authors (AL and EvLS) independently extracted data from the included articles using a piloted data extraction form. Disagreements were resolved by consulting a third author (RP). Accuracy of the data extraction was assessed at a separate occasion. We collected data on author, year, and source of publication; baseline characteristics and demographics from original trial and followup study; definitions of health-related outcomes; sample size and attrition from original trial; the timing, duration and dose of aspirin use; indication for aspirin use; publication status; start date and end date; ethical approval; key conclusions and type and source of funding. Corresponding authors of the included articles were contacted for further information if relevant data were not presented in the original publication.

# Assessment of risk of bias

Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing the risk of bias (RoB2) was used to evaluate the validity of included RCTs and to assign a judgement of low risk, some concerns or high risk of bias [21]. We used the Quality In Prognosis Studies (QUIPS) to appraise the included follow-up studies [22]. As the QUIPS tool is designed for prognostic studies, we made some alterations to make it applicable to the included studies (Appendix B). The studies were assigned a judgement of low, moderate or high risk of bias. Furthermore, the GRADE approach was used to assess the certainty of the evidence for the key outcomes (post-neonatal)

mortality and neurodevelopmental impairment (i.e. cognitive impairment, motor impairment, or neurosensory impairment). We planned to use a funnel plot to assess publication bias. Risk of bias assessment was performed independently by two authors (AL and EvLS) and discrepancies were resolved by consulting a third author (RP). We did not exclude studies based on quality assessment.

# Data synthesis and analysis

We presented the results of dichotomous outcomes from the individual studies as relative risks (RR) and 95% confidence intervals (95%CI). In case of sufficient studies, we planned to conduct meta-analysis and subgroup analyses of studies comparing aspirin dose; gestational age at initiation of therapy; duration of therapy during pregnancy; indication for aspirin use; and follow-up duration of studies. Statistical analyses were performed using Review Manager by two authors (AL and EvLS) (RevMan 5.3.5) [23].

## Results

# Study selection

The search yielded 6,907 unique articles which were assessed for eligibility (see Fig. 1). Two articles, encompassing the data of 4,168 children at 12 months and of 5,153 children at 18 months of age, met the criteria for inclusion [24,25]. No additional studies were identified by cited-reference search or in the trial registry. Corresponding authors of both studies were contacted to retrieve additional information on baseline characteristics and outcomes, but could not supply the required data upon our enquiry.

# Study characteristics of original studies

The two included studies were follow-up studies from RCTs performed between 1988 and 1992: the Collaborative Low-dose Aspirin Study in Pregnancy (CLASP) trial and the Italian Study of Aspirin in Pregnancy (ISAP) [26,27]. The CLASP trial randomized 9,364 women between aspirin 60 mg and placebo in 213 centers in 16 countries [26]. The ISAP trial randomized 1,106 women between aspirin 50 mg and no treatment in 81 Italian centres [25]. Characteristics of participants from the original RCTs are summarized in Table 1. Both trials included singleton and twin pregnancies. Low-dose aspirin was administered for the prevention or treatment of fetal growth restriction and preeclampsia, and was initiated between 12 and 32 weeks of gestation and continued until delivery.

# Study characteristics of follow-up studies

Characteristics of the included follow-up studies are presented in Table 2. The CLASP trial performed follow-up of 4,168 children at 12 months of age (43.3% from original trial) through questionnaires directed to their general practitioner, and of 4,365 children at 18 months (45.3% from original trial) through parental questionnaires [24]. Characteristics of women and their birth outcomes from the original trial were similar to the characteristics and outcomes of those mothers whose children were assessed at 12 and 18 months. Parents and general practitioners remained unaware of treatment allocation at follow-up [24]. The ISAP trial performed follow-up at 18 months corrected age of 788 children (65.8% from original trial) through parental questionnaires [24,25]. The authors stated that there were no differences in maternal characteristics and birth outcomes between the responders and those who were



Fig. 1. PRISMA flow diagram.

lost to follow-up, however, quantitative data were not published. No comparison of baseline characteristics and obstetric outcomes was made between the study population from the original trial and the follow-up study [25]. Neither follow-up study reported important obstetric outcome data (e.g. gestational age at birth and birth weight) stratified per intervention at baseline, nor adjusted for these data in their analyses.

## Risk of bias of included studies

Risk of bias assessment of the original trials using the Cochrane tool is presented in Fig. S1. The CLASP trial had a low risk of bias and there were some concerns regarding the ISAP [26,27]. Based on the QUIPS tool, both follow-up studies had an overall high risk of bias. Details of our judgement are provided in Appendix C and Fig. S2. We were unable to compile a funnel plot to assess publication bias due to the limited number of studies. A summary of the GRADE evaluation can be found in Appendix D. The results of (post-neonatal) mortality were classified as low quality. No GRADE evaluation on the outcome neurodevelopmental impairment could be made.

# Data synthesis

Due to the limited number of included studies with substantial heterogeneity of the outcome definitions used in both studies, planned meta, subgroup and sensitivity analyses were not performed.

### Post-neonatal mortality

The total mortality rate, including perinatal mortality, was not reported in both studies. The CLASP follow-up reported on the mortality rate between hospital discharge and follow-up at 12 and 18 months. Information on child's vital status was gathered through general practitioners and the UK National Health Service Central Registry. The ISAP follow-up reported mortality between eight days after birth and follow-up of all responders at 18 months [25].

The 12-month mortality rate was lower in the aspirin group than in the placebo group (0.2% versus 0.5%; RR 0.28, 95%Cl 0.08-0.99) [24]. Causes of death at 12 months were not reported. At 18 months, no difference in mortality rate was measured in either study (Table 3). Causes of death in the aspirin group (n = 7) were prematurity (n = 1), sudden infant death syndrome (n = 4), infection (n = 1) and pulmonary problems (n = 1). Causes of death in the placebo group (n = 13) were sudden infant death syndrome (n = 8), congenital anomalies (n = 3), pulmonary problems (n = 1) and infection (n = 1).

## Child neurodevelopment

Both included studies reported on several domains of development [24,25]. The development-related questions were mainly based on the questionnaire from Sonnander et al. that included questions from the Griffiths Developmental scales [28,29]. Agerelated norms were used to determine developmental problems

#### Table 1

Original trial	Type of treatment	Sample random pregnai women	size, nized nt	Sample pregnar women outcom availab	size, nt with ne data le	Sample size, babies including live births and fetal losses > 12 weeks		Prophylactic treatment for women at risk of PE and IUGR (%)*	Therapy for IUGR or PE (%)*	Initiation of treatment in weeks (mean ± SD)	Cessation of treatment	Maternal age at randomization, mean (±SD)	Nulliparous women (%)*
CLASP 1994	Aspirin 60 mg Placebo	9,364	4,683 4681	9,309	4,659 4,650	9,631	4,810 4,821	4,013 (85.7%)† 4,008 (85.6%) <sup>†</sup>	670 (14.3%) <sup>‡</sup> 673 (14.4%) <sup>‡</sup>	12-32 (19.4 ± 5.6)	delivery	28.5 (±5.4) 28.5 (±5.5) 28.7 (±6.4)	1,310 (28%) 1,309 (28%)
ISAP 1993	Aspirin 50 mg No treatment	1,106	583 523	1,042	565 477	1,171	633 538	448 (76.8%) <sup>s</sup> 374 (71.5%) <sup>§</sup>	117 (20.1%)* 103 (19.7%)¥	16-32 (21.4 ± 5.3)	delivery	30.7 (±6.4) 30.5 (±6.7)	NK

Characteristics original trials reporting on aspirin use in pregnancy among women at high risk of preeclampsia or fetal growth restriction.

IUGR: intra-uterine growth restriction, NR: not reported, PE: preeclampsia.

\* Percentage is based on the sample size of the randomized women

† History of preeclampsia or IUGR, chronic hypertension, renal disease, or other risk factors, such as maternal age, family history, or multiple pregnancy.

‡ Women with signs or symptoms of preeclampsia or IUGR in the current pregnancy.

§ Age < 18 or > 40 years, mild or moderate chronic hypertension (diastolic pressure between 90 and 110 mmHg), nephropathy with normal renal function and normal blood pressure, history of pregnancy-induced hypertension with or without proteinuria developing after week 32 of a previous pregnancy, history of IUGR (<10th centile), and twin pregnancy.

¥ Pregnancy-induced hypertension (diastolic pressure between 90 and 110 mm Hg) in this pregnancy or early signs of IUGR (mean fetal abdominal circumference < 2 SD for gestational age).

Table 2

Characteristics follow-up studies reporting on long-term health and neurodevelopment in children after antenatal exposure to low-dose aspirin for the prevention of preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction.

Follow-up study	Selection for follow-up	Planned age of follow-up assessment	Time period of follow-up	Origin of population	Type of assessment	Maternal treatment during gestation	Alive ch approac follow-u original	ildren hed for ıp (% of trial)	Childro up dat %)	en with follow- a (response rate	Follow-up rate from original trial	Sex of children (male, %)	Gestational age at birth, weeks (±SD)	Birth weight, g (±SD)
CLASP follow- up 1995	women recruited for trial < January 1st 1992	12 months <sup>§</sup>	NR	UK	general practitioner questionnaire	Aspirin 60 mg Placebo	4,675 (48.5%)	2,329 2,346	4,168	2,069 (88.8%) 2,099 (89.5%)	43.3%	NR	38.6 (±2.7)	3,057 (±739)
		18 months <sup>§</sup>	NR	UK + Ottawa (Canada)	parental questionnaire	Aspirin 60 mg Placebo	5,081 (52.8%)	2,524 2,557	4,365	2,146 (85.0%) 2,219 (86.8%)	45.3%	NR	38.5 ( <b>±</b> 2.7)	3,058 (±745)
ISAP follow- up 1994	infants born > February 1989	18 months <sup>§</sup>	NR	Italy	parental questionnaire	Aspirin 50 mg No treatment	1,083 (90.4%)	590* 493*	788	427 (72.4%) 361 (73.2%)	65.8%	NR	NR	NR

NR not reported; UK United Kingdom.

\* Infants who died after the first week of life are not excluded.

§ Exact age range of children at follow-up (including SD) is not reported.

#### Table 3

Mortality	, neurodevelopme	ent. anthroi	ometrics. a	nd health	outcomes (	of children at	18 months	of age	after antenatal	exposure to	) low-dose	e aspirin
		,										

Outcome	Study	Aspirin group			Contro	l group		RR (95%CI)	p value
		n	total	%	n	total	%		
Mortality	CLASP follow-up 1995	5	2,529	0.2%	12	2,569	0.5%	0.42 (0.15 - 1.20)	0.11
	ISAP follow-up 1994	2	427	0.5%	1	361	0.3%	1.69 (0.15 - 18.6)	0.67
Gross motor abnormal	CLASP follow-up 1995	9	2,146	0.4%	10	2,219	0.5%	0.93 (0.38-2.29)	0.88
	ISAP follow-up 1994	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fine motor abnormal	CLASP follow-up 1995	28	2,146	1.3%	39	2,219	1.8%	0.74 (0.46-1.20)	0.23
	ISAP follow-up 1994	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Gross and fine motor problems	CLASP follow-up 1995	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	ISAP follow-up 1994	15	427	3.5%	26	361	7.2%	0.49 (0.26-0.91)	0.02
Language problems	CLASP follow-up 1995	124	2,146	5.8%	136	2,219	6.1%	0.94 (0.74-1.19)	0.62
	ISAP follow-up 1994	55	427	12.9%	47	361	13.0%	0.99 (0.69-1.42)	0.95
Hearing problems	CLASP follow-up 1995	20	2,146	0.9%	25	2,219	1.1%	0.83 (0.46-1.48)	0.53
	ISAP follow-up 1994	1	427	0.2%	0	361	0%	-	-
Vision problems	CLASP follow-up 1995	9	2,146	0.4%	18	2,219	0.8%	0.52 (0.23-1.15)	0.11
	ISAP follow-up 1994	5	427	1.2%	5	361	1.4%	0.85 (0.25-2.90)	0.79
Short stature	CLASP follow-up 1995*	236	2,146	11.0%	248	2,219	11.2%	0.98 (0.83-1.16)	0.85
	ISAP follow-up 1994 <sup>§</sup>	36	427	8.4%	44	361	12.2%	0.69 (0.46-1.05)	0.08
Low weight	CLASP follow-up 1995*	112	2,146	5.2%	129	2,219	5.8%	0.90 (0.70-1.15)	0.39
	ISAP follow-up 1994 <sup>§</sup>	76	427	17.8%	60	361	16.6%	1.07 (0.79-1.46)	0.66
Respiratory problems	CLASP follow-up 1995	45	2,146	2.1%	46	2,219	2.1%	1.01 (0.67-1.52)	0.96
	ISAP follow-up 1994	56	427	13.1%	32	361	8.9%	1.48 (0.98-2.23)	0.06

\* <3rd centile.

§ <10th centile.

and difficulties [30]. Results above the 90th centile were considered abnormal [24,25].

Results of child neurodevelopment are shown in Table 3. In the CLASP follow-up at 18 months, abnormal gross motor development (0.4% versus 0.5%; RR 0.93, 95%CI 0.38–2.29) and abnormal fine motor development (RR 0.74, 95%CI 0.46–1.20) of children was similar between the aspirin group and the control group. The CLASP follow-up also reported no differences in specific aspects of development and health at 18 months of age (Table S1) [24]. In the ISAP follow-up at 18 months, there were fewer children with gross and fine motor problems in the aspirin group (3.5% versus 7.2%; RR 0.49, 95%CI 0.26–0.91) [25]. There were no differences in abnormal language development, and hearing or vision problems in either one of the follow-up studies.

#### **Anthropometrics**

Both studies reported on a parental measure of height and weight at the age of 18 months. An abnormal value of height or weight was defined as < 3rd centile in the CLASP follow-up study and < 10th centile in the ISAP follow-up study [24,25]. Neither study reported a significant difference in the prevalence of short stature or low weight between the aspirin and control group (Table 3).

# Respiratory problems

In the CLASP follow-up, respiratory problems were defined as frequent coughs and wheezes as reported by parents, and the ISAP follow-up provided no definition. Neither study reported a significant difference in respiratory problems between treatment groups (Table 3).

#### *Healthcare consumption*

In the CLASP follow-up, fewer children in the aspirin group visited the hospital for developmental delay compared to the placebo group (0.7% versus 1.4%; RR 0.47, 95%CI 0.25–0.89) at 12 months (Table S2) [24]. Hospital visits and admissions, and nonroutine consultations with the general practitioner at 12 and 18 months did not differ between groups. The ISAP follow-up did not report on healthcare consumption.

# Discussion

We found that children antenatally exposed to maternal lowdose aspirin for the prophylaxis or treatment of preeclampsia or fetal growth restriction had lower mortality until the age of 12 months. Furthermore, there were fewer hospital visits for developmental delay at 12 months along with improved gross and fine motor function (as assessed from the achievement of specific developmental milestones) at 18 months. There were no differences in other neurodevelopmental outcomes (i.e. language, hearing and/or vision problems), respiratory problems and the proportion of children with a short stature and/or low weight between treatment groups at 18 months of age.

In the CLASP follow-up, the mortality rate from hospital discharge to children's age of 12 months was significantly lower in the aspirin group than in the placebo group [24]. This is in line with other evidence suggesting that prophylaxis with low-dose aspirin in pregnancy reduces the perinatal mortality rate [1]. The reduced mortality rate may be a direct result of improved short-term perinatal outcome, achieved by the reduction of preeclampsia, smallfor-gestational-age and/or preterm birth, all of which have been reported to be robustly improved by antenatal low-dose aspirin [1], and are risk factors for long-term morbidity [12–17]. It seems plausible that the prevention of these obstetric complications by low-dose aspirin may not only reduce mortality and morbidity in the short-term but also in the longer term. However, mortality rate at 18 months did not differ between groups in either of the included studies and a causal relationship between aspirin and reduced post-neonatal mortality could not be demonstrated based on these data.

In our review, children exposed to low-dose aspirin during pregnancy had a lower likelihood of gross and fine motor problems, and hospital visits for developmental delay. One cohort study among 584 5-year-old children born between 22 and 32 completed weeks of gestation also found possible beneficial effects of antenatal exposure to low-dose aspirin on neurodevelopment: a reduction in problem behavior and hyperactivity, but not in cognitive impairments [15]. We speculate that antenatal exposure to low-dose aspirin could have a direct neuroprotective effect translating into improved long-term outcome. For example, by prevention of damage caused to the developing fetal brain by intrauterine inflammation [31–34]. On the other hand, concerns have been raised regarding the safety of antenatal low-dose aspirin exposure for the developing fetal brain [35]. A Scandinavian retrospective study showed increased risk (aOR 2.4, 95%CI 1.1-5.3) for cerebral palsy in children up to 6 years ever exposed to 80-500 mg aspirin (n = 5,746) during pregnancy compared to those who were not exposed (n = 138,763) [36]. A likely explanation for these conflicting findings is that observational studies suffer from confounding by indication, with women at higher risk of perinatal poor outcome, and therefore of poor neurodevelopmental outcome in the long term, being more likely to receive antenatal low-dose aspirin.

Considering the important functions of the COX enzyme and prostaglandins throughout the human body, delayed effects from antenatal exposure to aspirin could arise in other organ systems as well. In our study, we did not identify such delayed effects in other organ systems, e.g. the respiratory system. In contrast, follow-up from the Collaborative Perinatal Project, including 19,928 children at the age of 7, found an increased risk of asthma among children with antenatal exposure to aspirin. These children were antenatally exposed to therapeutic doses of aspirin > 300 mg [37]. Another study using the same cohort also found aspirin might be beneficial with regards to children's blood pressure at 7 years of age [38]. We did not identify data of RCTs assessing cardiovascular outcomes.

Notably, both included studies assessed aspirin up to 60 mg started relatively late in pregnancy, while current practice advises doses up to 150 mg a day starting before 16 weeks of gestation [39]. It can be assumed from the dose–response effect of aspirin that longer duration of antenatal exposure to a higher dose of aspirin would have more impact on child development. This impact could be either positive or negative. Many large RCTs have assessed the effect of low-dose aspirin 75–150 mg initiated early in pregnancy on obstetric complications. Long-term follow up among children born in these trials could provide valuable information to current prescribing practice. Considering the large variations in long-term outcome reporting in follow-up studies [40], we encourage standardization of the applied measurement tools and development of a core outcome set to facilitate comparability of future studies [41,42].

Strengths of our study include the broad search strategy and robust methodology, as well as the clinical relevance of the question we attempted to answer. The main limitation of our findings is the limited number of studies, preventing us from drawing firm conclusions. Furthermore, the studies date from the early 90's and since that time obstetric and neonatal healthcare has changed substantially, potentially limiting the applicability of the findings to current practice. The included studies were restricted to a followup age of 18 months, when infants are still at a very early stage of brain development. Beyond this age, the brain continues to develop rapidly. As early as school age, specific cognitive functions are challenged for the first time so that more subtle effects of antenatal low-dose aspirin exposure can only become manifest with age.

The follow-up studies had a high risk of bias. They were susceptible to selection bias due to high attrition from the original trial, especially in the CLASP trial that followed less than half of the children. The risk of selective attrition may be low, as baseline characteristics and obstetric outcomes of participants in the follow-up studies did not deviate from those in the original studies. However, the included studies did not report important family factors, such as parental socioeconomic status, which are known to influence infant neurodevelopment, as well as being an important source of selective attrition [43,44].

Another limitation may be the fact that included studies used questionnaires administered from parents or caregivers for an assessment of follow-up outcomes rather than a physical assessment. Questionnaires have the advantage of being easily accessible and inexpensive but may be subjective. However, the Griffith survey used in the follow-up studies is a validated questionnaire for assessing general development in high-risk children [29]. Lastly, studies did not adjust for factors associated with perinatal and long-term outcome (e.g. gestational age at birth) in their analyses while gestational age at birth has a large impact on child health and development [45]. As low-dose aspirin has been shown to reduce preterm birth in other studies, gestational age at birth could have modified the observed effects between treatment groups in the studies. Therefore, direct causality between antenatal aspirin exposure and the study outcomes could not be established.

# Conclusion

We found possible positive effects of low-dose aspirin administered during pregnancy on post-neonatal mortality and motor development up to 18 months of age. Our findings support the current wide application of preventive low-dose aspirin in pregnancy. However, literature was scarce, had a high-risk of bias and was limited to aspirin doses up to 60 mg and age at follow-up of 18 months. Further follow-up research of children who were exposed to lowdose aspirin during pregnancy is of paramount importance.

# Funding

The authors received a grant from the Amsterdam Reproduction & Development research institute (V.000296). The funder of the study had no role in the design of the study; collection, management, analysis and interpretation of the data; preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript; and decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

### **Details of Ethics Approval**

Ethical approval was not required for secondary use of data in this systematic review and meta-analysis.

#### Paper presentation information

N/A.

# Disclaimer

N/A.

# Data availability

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

## Registration

PROSPERO ID: CRD42020162088.

### **Contribution to Authorship**

ALa, MdB, MO and RP designed the study as presented in the Prospero database. ALa and JK performed the search. ALa and EvLS performed study selection, data extraction and risk of bias assessment, and disagreements were resolved by discussion with RP. MF and ALe provided expertise from a paediatric perspective. JvtH and RP provided expertise on long-term follow-up of children from obstetric studies. ALa and EvLS drafted the manuscript under supervision of RP. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript and approved the final version.

# **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Acknowledgements

None.

## Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejogrb.2021.11.010.

# References

- Duley L, Meher S, Hunter KE, Seidler AL, Askie LM. Antiplatelet agents for preventing pre-eclampsia and its complications. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019;2019(10).
- [2] ACOG Committee Opinion No. 743: Low-Dose Aspirin Use During Pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2018;132(1):e44-e52.
- [3] Library WRH. WHO recommendation on low-dose acetylsalicylic acid (aspirin) for pre-eclampsia prevention in high-risk women (October 2011). The WHO Reproductive Health Library; Geneva: World Health Organization.
- [4] Webster K, Fishburn S, Maresh M, Findlay SC, Chappell LC. Diagnosis and management of hypertension in pregnancy: summary of updated NICE guidance. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2019;366:15119.
- [5] Morris T, Stables M, Hobbs A, de Souza P, Colville-Nash P, Warner T, et al. Effects of low-dose aspirin on acute inflammatory responses in humans. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2009;183(3):2089-96.
- [6] Vane JR, Botting RM. The mechanism of action of aspirin. Thromb Res 2003;110 (5-6):255-8.
- [7] Jacobson RL, Brewer A, Eis A, Siddiqi TA, Myatt L. Transfer of aspirin across the perfused human placental cotyledon. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1991;165 (4):939–44.
- [8] Levy G, Garrettson LK. Kinetics of salicylate elimination by newborn infants of mothers who ingested aspirin before delivery. Pediatrics 1974;53(2):201–10.
- [9] Levy G, Procknal JA, Garrettson LK. Distribution of salicylate between neonatal and maternal serum at diffusion equilibrium. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1975;18 (2):210–4.
- [10] Henderson JT, Whitlock EP, O'Connor E, Senger CA, Thompson JH, Rowland MG. Low-dose aspirin for prevention of morbidity and mortality from preeclampsia: a systematic evidence review for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med 2014;160(10):695–703.
- [11] Kenyon S, Pike K, Jones DR, Brocklehurst P, Marlow N, Salt A, et al. Childhood outcomes after prescription of antibiotics to pregnant women with spontaneous preterm labour: 7-year follow-up of the ORACLE II trial. Lancet 2008;372(9646):1319–27.
- [12] Barker DJP. The developmental origins of adult disease. J Am Coll Nutr 2004;23 (sup6):588S-95S.
- [13] Bokslag A, van Weissenbruch M, Mol BW, de Groot CJM. Preeclampsia; short and long-term consequences for mother and neonate. Early Hum Dev. 2016;102:47–50.
- [14] Goffin SM, Derraik JoséGB, Groom KM, Cutfield WS. Maternal pre-eclampsia and long-term offspring health: Is there a shadow cast? Pregnancy Hypertens. 2018;12:11–5.
- [15] Marret S, Marchand L, Kaminski M, Larroque B, Arnaud C, Truffert P, et al. Prenatal low-dose aspirin and neurobehavioral outcomes of children born very preterm. Pediatrics 2010;125(1):e29–34.
- [16] Meher S, Hernandez-Andrade E, Basheer SN, Lees C. Impact of cerebral redistribution on neurodevelopmental outcome in small-for-gestational-age or growth-restricted babies: a systematic review. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2015;46(4):398–404.
- [17] Pittara T, Vyrides A, Lamnisos D, Giannakou K. Preeclampsia and long-term health outcomes for mother and infant: An umbrella review. BJOG 2021;128 (9):1421–30.

European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology 267 (2021) 213-220

- [18] Marlow N, Doyle LW, Anderson P, Johnson S, Bhatt-Mehta V, Natalucci G, et al. Assessment of long-term neurodevelopmental outcome following trials of medicinal products in newborn infants. Pediatr Res 2019;86(5):567–72.
- [19] Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Wiley; 2019.
- [20] Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2009;339:b2700.
- [21] Sterne JAC, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, et al. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2019;366:14898.
- [22] Hayden JA, van der Windt DA, Cartwright JL, Côté P, Bombardier C. Assessing bias in studies of prognostic factors. Ann Intern Med 2013;158(4):280–6.
- [23] Review Manager (RevMan) [Computer program]. Version 5.3. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre TCC, 2014.
- [24] Group CC. Low dose aspirin in pregnancy and early childhood development: follow up of the collaborative low dose aspirin study in pregnancy. CLASP collaborative group. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1995;102(11):861–8.
- [25] Parazzini F, Bortolus R, Chatenoud L, Restelli S, Benedetto C. Follow-up of children in the Italian Study of Aspirin in Pregnancy. Lancet 1994;343 (8907):1235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(94)92452-X</u>.
- [26] Group CC. CLASP: a randomised trial of low-dose aspirin for the prevention and treatment of pre-eclampsia among 9364 pregnant women. CLASP (Collaborative Low-dose Aspirin Study in Pregnancy) Collaborative Group. Lancet 1994;343(8898):619–29.
- [27] Italian Study of Aspirin in Pregnancy. Low-dose aspirin in prevention and treatment of intrauterine growth retardation and pregnancy-induced hypertension. Italian study of aspirin in pregnancy. Lancet 1993;341 (8842):396–400.
- [28] Griffiths R. The abilities of babies. London: The Test Agency Limited; 1954.[29] Sonnander K. Parental developmental assessment of 18-month-old children:
- reliability and predictive value. Dev Med Child Neurol 1987;29(3):351–62.
- [30] Bryant GM, Davies KJ, Newcombe RG. The Denver Developmental Screening Test. Achievement of test items in the first year of life by Denver and Cardiff infants. Dev Med Child Neurol 1974;16(4):475–84.
- [31] Degos V, Favrais G, Kaindl AM, Peineau S, Guerrot AM, Verney C, et al. Inflammation processes in perinatal brain damage. Journal of neural transmission (Vienna, Austria : 1996). 2010;117(8):1009-17.
- [32] Hagberg H, Gressens P, Mallard C. Inflammation during fetal and neonatal life: implications for neurologic and neuropsychiatric disease in children and adults. Ann Neurol 2012;71(4):444–57.
- [33] Hagberg H, Mallard C, Ferriero DM, Vannucci SJ, Levison SW, Vexler ZS, et al. The role of inflammation in perinatal brain injury. Nature reviews Neurology. 2015;11(4):192–208.
- [34] Shiow LR, Favrais G, Schirmer L, Schang A-L, Cipriani S, Andres C, et al. Reactive astrocyte COX2-PGE2 production inhibits oligodendrocyte maturation in neonatal white matter injury. Glia. 2017;65(12):2024–37.
- [35] Voutetakis A, Pervanidou P, Kanaka-Gantenbein C. Aspirin for the Prevention of Preeclampsia and Potential Consequences for Fetal Brain Development. JAMA pediatrics. 2019;173(7):619–20.
- [36] Petersen TG, Liew Z, Andersen AN, Andersen GL, Andersen PK, Martinussen T, et al. Use of paracetamol, ibuprofen or aspirin in pregnancy and risk of cerebral palsy in the child. International journal of epidemiology. 2018;47(1):121-30.
- [37] Chu S, Huang L, Bao Y, Bao J, Yu H, Zhang J. In Utero Exposure to Aspirin and Risk of Asthma in Childhood. Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass). 2016;27 (5):726–31.
- [38] Chen Y, Zhao D, Wang B, Zhu J, Zhang J, Zhang Y. Association of intrauterine exposure to aspirin and blood pressure at 7 years of age: a secondary analysis. BJOG 2019;126(5):599-607.
- [39] Roberge S, Bujold E, Nicolaides KH. Aspirin for the prevention of preterm and term preeclampsia: systematic review and metaanalysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2018;218(3):287–293.e1.
- [40] Olmedo-Requena R, Amezcua-Prieto C, Al Wattar BH, Rogozinska E, Bueno-Cavanillas A, Juan Jiménez-Moleón J, et al. Variations in long-term outcome reporting among offspring followed up after lifestyle interventions in pregnancy: a systematic review. Journal of perinatal medicine. 2020;48 (2):89–95.
- [41] Khan K, O'Donovan P. The CROWN initiative: journal editors invite researchers to develop core outcomes in women's health. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2014;14:199.
- [42] Williamson PR, Altman DG, Blazeby JM, Clarke M, Gargon E. The COMET (Core Outcome Measures in Effectiveness Trials) Initiative. Trials. 2011;12(1):A70.
- [43] Leventhal T, Brooks-Gunn J. The neighborhoods they live in: the effects of neighborhood residence on child and adolescent outcomes. Psychological bulletin. 2000;126(2):309-37.
- [44] van Vuuren CL, Reijneveld SA, van der Wal MF, Verhoeff AP. Neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation characteristics in child (0–18 years) health studies: a review. Health & place. 2014;29:34–42.
- [45] Luu TM, Rehman Mian MO, Nuyt AM. Long-Term Impact of Preterm Birth: Neurodevelopmental and Physical Health Outcomes. Clin Perinatol 2017;44 (2):305–14.